1986

Gilbert R. Wilburn v. Interstate Electric, National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Second Injury Fund and Utah State Industrial Commission : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF THE CASE

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §35-1-83 (1986 Supplement) as a Petition for Review from an Order of the Industrial Commission denying appellant's Motion for Review. In the instant case, a hearing was held on May 14, 1986, at 10:00 o'clock a.m. Administrative Law Judge Richard G. Sumsion presided. Following the hearing, on May 28, 1986, Judge Sumsion issued Interim Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order awarding benefits for permanent and total disability to the applicant. Respondents Interstate Electric Company (hereinafter "Interstate Electric") and National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh (hereinafter "National Union") subsequently filed a Motion for Review pursuant to U.C.A. §35-1-82.53. Thereafter, the Administrative Law Judge

issued Supplemental Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order denying Mr. Wilburn's claim. Following the issuance of the Supplemental Order, the appellant filed a Motion for Review to the Industrial Commission. Applicant's motion was denied and the order of the Administrative Law Judge affirmed on September 9, 1986. This Appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The issues presented for review are as follows:

1. Whether a compromise and settlement agreement bars a worker's right to claim permanent total disability benefits where the language of the agreement does not purport to settle claims for permanent and total disability, either expressly or by implication.

2. Whether a compromise and settlement agreement can properly waive an employee's right to compensation despite Utah Code Annotated §35-1-90, where the issue of liability was not, in fact, doubtful.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Appellant respectfully contends that U.C.A. §35-1-90 (1953 as amended) is determinative of the issues to be decided in this case. Section 35-1-90 reads as follows:

No agreement by an employee to waive his rights to compensation under this title shall be valid. No agreement by an employee to pay any portion of the premium

paid by his employer shall be valid. Any employer who deducts any portion of such premium from the wages or salary of any employee entitled to the benefits of this title is guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be fined not more than \$100 for each such offense. (Emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts pertinent to this case are as follows:

1. Appellant Gilbert Wilburn is a 66-year old man with a ninth grade education who has worked as a heavy duty mechanic all his life. (R. at 52.)
2. At all times pertinent hereto, Mr. Wilburn was employed by respondent Interstate Electric as a mechanic, repairing and overhauling portable power plants, water pumps, oil pumps and hydraulic and telephone pole pullers. (R. at 53.)
3. On April 14, 1984, Mr. Wilburn attempted to lift a portable power plant weighing between seventy and ninety pounds from the floor to his work bench. (R. at 54, 84.)
4. As he lifted the power plant and twisted to set it on his work bench, Mr. Wilburn felt a severe burning pain in his low back and abdomen. (R. at 54, 55.)
5. The pain was so severe that it took his breath away forcing him to lean temporarily over the power plant and his work table in order to regain his senses. He then walked to a nearby bench and laid down. (R. at 55, 56.)
6. Mr. Wilburn promptly reported this incident to a co-worker, the shop foreman, and the shop manager. (R. at 56, 57.)

7. He continued to work for the remainder of the day, as well as the two following days thinking the pain would pass with time. (R. at 57.)

8. Finally, on the second day after this lifting incident, Mr. Wilburn was in such distress that he was forced to leave work and consult Dr. Gene Smith, an orthopedic surgeon. (R. at 58, 59.)

9. Although he was able to return to work just a few days after the accident, Mr. Wilburn continued to experience significant pain in his low back and right side. (R. at 61.)

10. On or about February 2, 1981, Mr. Wilburn was examined by Dr. Wally Hess pursuant to an independent medical examination requested by defendant National Union. Following his examination, Dr. Hess assigned Mr. Wilburn a permanent partial impairment rating of twenty percent (20%), fifteen percent of which he attributed to preexisting causes and five percent of which he attributed to aggravation of the preexisting condition by the industrial episode. (R. at 180.)

11. Following the industrial incident at issue, Mr. Wilburn continued to work for Interstate Electric until July 31, 1981, when he was laid off. During this period of time, however, Mr. Wilburn's condition continued to deteriorate. (R. at 65.)

12. In August of 1981, Mr. Wilburn began seeing Dr. Gordon Affleck. In a letter dated February 10, 1982, directed to American International Adjustment Company,

(hereinafter "American International"), Dr. Affleck stated that in his opinion Mr. Wilburn had at least a thirty percent (30%) permanent partial impairment with twenty percent attributable to preexisting conditions and ten percent due to his industrial injury. (R. at 225.)

13. On April 7, 1982, Dr. Affleck again wrote to American International, stating that Mr. Wilburn was suffering from a permanent disability of between twenty-five to forty percent. (R. at 227.)

14. Following a second independent medical examination of Mr. Wilburn on June 20, 1983, Dr. Hess increased his permanent partial disability rating of Mr. Wilburn's condition to thirty-six percent (36%) whole man, stating that fifteen percent of this rating was due to problems with Mr. Wilburn's cervical spine, fifteen percent was due to preexisting problems in his lumbar and lumbosacral spine, and ten percent was due to problems related to the industrial injury of his lumbosacral spine. (R. at 188, 189.)

15. Inasmuch as his condition had materially worsened, Mr. Wilburn sought additional worker's compensation benefits. (R. at 27.)

16. American International subsequently instructed Mr. Wilburn to meet with Stuart Poelman, counsel for respondents Interstate Electric and National Union, on February 24, 1984. (R. at 31.)

17. During the course of Mr. Wilburn's meeting with Mr. Poelman, Mr. Poelman claims that he informed Mr.

Wilburn of all of the defenses the respondents could raise, including the defense of no accident, if Mr. Wilburn were to file a claim for additional benefits. Mr. Poelman also told Mr. Wilburn that if the matter proceeded to a hearing and the respondents were to prevail, Mr. Wilburn would lose all workmen's compensation benefits, including his medical benefits. (R. at 110, 111.)

18. Following their meeting, Mr. Poelman prepared the Compromise and Settlement Agreement (hereinafter "Agreement") at issue herein. Pursuant to its terms, Mr. Wilburn was paid additional temporary total disability in the amount of \$1,590 for the period of September 20, through November 22, 1984, plus compensation for an additional five percent permanent partial disability from both the Employer and the Second Injury Fund. (R. at 114, 115.)

19. Following his meeting with Mr. Poelman, Mr. Wilburn contacted Shaun Howell, legal counsel for the Commission regarding the Agreement and his possible claim. (R. at 114.)

20. Ms. Howell discussed with Mr. Wilburn the various possible outcomes that could occur should he assert a claim and pursue it to a hearing. At no time, however, did Ms. Howell advise Mr. Wilburn whether or not he should sign the Compromise and Settlement Agreement. (R. at 138, 140.)

21. When Mr. Wilburn first approached Ms. Howell, he was uncertain as to the type of claim he should assert. Furthermore, he was extremely concerned about the

continuation of his compensation because he had not been able to return to work. (R. at 135.)

22. Mr. Wilburn testified that by signing the Agreement, he understood he was compromising his then current claim for additional temporary total and permanent partial disability benefits. He further understood that he would not be precluded from seeking additional benefits in the future should his condition warrant them. (R. at 77, 78.)

23. Mr. Wilburn's understanding to this effect was due in part to the following provision contained in the Agreement itself: "The Employer and The Fund agree that The Fund will reimburse the Employer for two-thirds of all future medical expense and temporary total disability for which liability to the Applicant may be incurred." (R. at 78.)

24. The Agreement does not mention at any place permanent and total disability or the effect its acceptance would purportedly have on Mr. Wilburn's right to assert such a claim in the future. (R. at 37-40.)

25. On November 1, 1985, Dr. Affleck increased Mr. Wilburn's permanent total disability rating to forty-five percent (45%) stating that twelve percent is directly attributable to the industrial incident. (R. at 250.)

26. Prior to the industrial incident at issue herein, Mr. Wilburn had had no problems with his back which had been serious enough to prevent him from working. (R. at 53, 82-83, 125.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because of the express provision in the Utah Workman's Compensation Act prohibiting the waiver of benefits by employees in worker's compensation matters, any Agreement which purports to compromise the right of a worker must be strictly construed in order to avoid an unlawful waiver. Furthermore, all doubts and ambiguities relative to the Agreement should be resolved in favor of the employee so that the beneficent purposes of the Worker's Compensation Act might be fulfilled. Where an alleged Compromise and Settlement Agreement does not specifically bar an employee's right to assert a future claim, the employee should not thereafter be precluded from asserting that claim. A holding to the contrary constitutes a waiver of the employee's right to compensation to which he is otherwise entitled. In the instant case, the Compromise and Settlement Agreement signed by Mr. Wilburn does not specifically address the issue of permanent and total disability, nor does it purport to be a general release settling all of the claims Mr. Wilburn might raise as a result of the injuries he sustained on April 14, 1980, during the course of his employment. His claim for permanent total disability benefits is not, therefore, barred.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISALLOWANCE OF CLAIMS NOT EXPRESSLY
SETTLED BY AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES CONSTITUTES AN INVALID
WAIVER OF RIGHTS TO COMPENSATION UNDER UTAH LAW.

Utah Code Ann., §35-1-90 (1953 as amended)

prohibits agreements by employees waiving their rights to
compensation under the Workmen's Compensation Act. That
section reads in part, as follows:

No agreement by an employee to waive his
rights to compensation under this title
shall be valid . . .

In view of this clear statutory prohibition against waivers,
settlement agreements affecting a worker's right to
compensation must be carefully examined to ensure that no
waiver takes place. Furthermore, such agreements must be
strictly construed so that only those claims expressly settled
by the parties are precluded from future pursuit. In the
instant case, Mr. Wilburn seeks to assert a claim for
permanent and total disability as a result of injuries he
suffered while working for respondent Interstate Electric on
April 14, 1980. Respondents allege that Mr. Wilburn's claim
is barred by a Compromise and Settlement Agreement which was
executed by him and the respondents and which was approved by
the Commission on November 28, 1984. (A copy of the Compromise
and Settlement Agreement is attached hereto as Addendum Exhibit
"A.") However, a review of the Agreement executed by the
parties undermines respondent's position. Nowhere is the issue

of permanent and total disability or the intended effect of the Agreement on such a claim discussed. Furthermore, there is no language in the Agreement suggesting that the alleged settlement achieved therein was intended to be a full and final settlement of all of Mr. Wilburn's claims arising out of the injuries he sustained on April 14, 1980.

On page 2 of the Agreement, the first full paragraph, it states:

WHEREAS, the Applicant now claims that he is entitled to additional benefits but the Employer and the Fund dispute said claim and also deny liability for any benefits which have been paid or are yet claimed by Applicant under the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act, . . .

The type of claim and additional benefits sought by Mr. Wilburn as referred to in the above-cited paragraph are never specifically identified in the Agreement. The Agreement does provide for the payment of additional temporary total disability and additional permanent partial disability benefits to the applicant, but it does not say that the payment of those benefits is in lieu of Mr. Wilburn's assertion of a claim for permanent and total disability.

Since the waiver of any rights to which an employee is otherwise entitled is contrary to law, it stands to reason that where rights are not specifically addressed by an alleged settlement agreement, they cannot legitimately be said to have been compromised and settled. This conclusion is supported by the Decision in Cretella v. New York Dock Co., 289 N.Y. 254, 45 N.E.2d 429 (1942.) In Cretella, the applicant

sought an award for permanent total disability benefits several years after receiving a "lump sum settlement" in 1934. New York law provided for the commutation of periodical benefits owed to a worker to one or more lump payments, (a "lump sum settlement") so long as certain factors were taken into consideration. The 1934 award did not follow the directions of the statute in computing the lump sum awarded to the applicant, however, and the Court of Appeals therefore concluded that the settlement was actually an attempt to compromise the injured employee's claim. The New York Workman's Compensation Act, like the Utah Act, contained a statute prohibiting waivers. In view of this provision, the Court held:

True it is that our Compensation Law does not prohibit 'settlements' but, in view of the obvious and well-known policy and intent of the whole statute and in view of Sections 32 and 33, which forbid any waiver by a claimant of his right to compensation or any release by him of benefits due, such an express prohibition of 'settlement' was probably thought by the drafters to be unnecessary. We hold that there can be no valid compromise of the amounts due a claimant under this law. (Emphasis added.)

Id. at 430. The court further noted that before the applicant had received the 1934 lump sum settlement, the Industrial Board had approved a number of other awards to him in 1928 and 1929 for partial, temporary disability, thus implying a finding of temporary partial disability. The Board had also approved one prior lump sum settlement in 1930, without making a specific finding as to the extent or probable duration of the applicant's disability. It then stated:

Since neither of these attempted 'settlements' involves any classification of claimant's disability, the only classifications discoverable here are those of partial, temporary disability implicit in the 1928 and 1929 awards above referred to. Those 1928-29 classifications were 'erroneous and not in the interest of justice' since the Board has now found on sufficient proof that claimant is permanently totally disabled as a result of the 1928 accident. In a situation like this, Section 15, subdivision 6-a, of the Workman's Compensation Law permits reclassification 'at any time, without regard to the date of accident.'

Id. at 431.

The instant case is like Cretella in that the alleged settlement agreement does not refer to any classification of Mr. Wilburn's disability. Additionally, the only payments made under the Agreement are for temporary total and permanent partial disability, thus implying a finding of only permanent partial impairment on the part of Mr. Wilburn. Since Mr. Wilburn has presented sufficient evidence to show that his disability is, in fact, permanent and total, the Agreement cannot stand as a bar to his current claim.

The same conclusion reached in Cretella has also been reached in more recent decisions. For example, in Wacome v. Paul Mushero Const. Co., 498 A.2d 593 (Me. 1985), the plaintiff suffered an industrial injury to his left foot and lower back. Following the accident, the plaintiff and his employer entered into a compensation agreement which contained a description of the injury to his foot but did not contain a description of the injury to his back. Approximately

two years later, the employee sought additional recovery for his back injury which, at that time, had become disabling. The employer defended stating that the compensation agreement barred any further recovery for injuries arising out of the industrial accident in question. The Supreme Judicial Court of Maine reversed the decision of the Commission denying additional benefits to the employee and stated:

Only the employee's foot injuries were described in the approved settlement. The compensation paid was for the described foot injuries. The agreement does not purport to cover any injury to the employee's back, and no agreement exists between the parties concerning those injuries. The employee retains the legal right to seek compensation for the injury to his back.

Id. at 594.

The same conclusion was reached by the Supreme Court of Minnesota in the case of Hanson v. Jer Her Builders, 366 N.W.2d 294 (Minn. 1985). Therein, the plaintiff negotiated a settlement for an injury "in the nature of an injury to the eyes" for which he received compensation for "permanent partial disability of 13% of the visual field or the body as a whole." Six weeks after signing the settlement agreement, the employee filed a second petition seeking additional benefits for a 15% permanent partial disability of the head. The employer denied liability on the grounds that the prior settlement had been a compromise of all permanent partial disability arising out of the accident leading to the plaintiff's injuries. The Supreme Court of Minnesota held that although the stipulated settlement was somewhat ambiguous, it contained no specific reference to

any permanent partial disability of the head. Therefore, the employee's claim for permanent partial disability to the head was not foreclosed. Id. at 298. Although the decisions in Wacome and Hanson deal specifically with claims for particular injuries allegedly settled via a compromise agreement, their holdings are equally applicable to the case at bar where the matter at issue is the type of claim purportedly settled.

The conclusion reached by our own Utah Supreme Court in Barber Asphalt Corp. v. Industrial Comm'n., 135 P.2d 266 (Utah 1943) also supports Mr. Wilburn's contention that only claims expressly compromised may be deemed barred from subsequent assertion. In Barber, the applicant suffered a compensable industrial injury. The medical panel gave him a 5% permanent partial disability rating which he disputed. He applied for a hearing before the Commission, but before the hearing was held, entered into a Settlement Agreement with his employer on the basis of a 15% permanent partial disability rating. The Agreement signed by the applicant clearly stated that it constituted a final settlement of all claims arising out of the applicant's industrial accident. Furthermore, before signing the Agreement, the applicant was advised by his own independent counsel. The Commission subsequently approved the Settlement Agreement and payment was made according to its terms. Approximately one year later, the applicant filed a claim for additional compensation, alleging that his condition had deteriorated to the point he was totally disabled. After

reviewing the results of another medical examination, the Commission came to the conclusion that the applicant was indeed totally disabled and that he was thus entitled to benefits for permanent and total disability. The employer and its insured disputed this finding and alleged that the settlement agreement was a complete bar to the applicant's claim for permanent total disability benefits. In spite of a finding that all parties to the action conceded that the agreement in question was intended at the time of its execution to be a final settlement of all of the applicant's claims, the Utah Supreme Court upheld the decision of the Commission awarding additional benefits. In so doing, it stated:

We think a reasonable view of the provisions of the Utah Act and due consideration of the objects and purposes of such acts in general and the history which prompted their enactment, requires us to say that the Legislature intended to prevent an agreement such as shown in this case from becoming a bar to a claim for additional compensation for an increase in disability.

Id. at 270. It further elaborated as follows:

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