1986

Gilbert R. Wilburn v. Interstate Electric, National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Second Injury Fund and Utah State Industrial Commission : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I:

1. The Supreme Court has validated agreements between employers and employees to settle worker's compensation claims.
2. Legislative and public policy favor such agreements as approved by the Industrial Commission.

POINT II:

1. The evidence of record, reviewed in light of Utah law as it existed when the Compromise and Settlement Agreement was negotiated, demonstrates that the defense of "no accident" was asserted in good faith and was a bona fide issue to be negotiated.
2. The Industrial Commission's findings of defendants' good faith is supported by substantial evidence.
3. The closeness of an issue, if it is bona fide, cannot be raised in later proceedings as a factor to invalidate the settlement agreement.

4. The issues settled by an agreement cannot be later litigated and the results of such litigation then used to argue whether the issue was a bona fide issue at the time of the settlement.

POINT III:

1. The Industrial Commission's finding that the Compromise and Settlement Agreement contemplated the settlement of the appellant's claim for permanent total disability is supported by abundant evidence.

2. The Industrial Commission's findings in this case cannot be changed by the Court of Appeals under the statutory and common law standards of review imposed upon the court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

AGREEMENTS BETWEEN AN EMPLOYER AND EMPLOYEE COMPROMISING AND SETTLING A DISPUTED CLAIM OF LIABILITY UNDER THE UTAH WORKER'S COMPEN- SATION ACT ARE VALID AND ENFORCEABLE.

In the case of Brigham Young University v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 279 P. 889 (Utah 1929), the Utah Supreme Court long ago established that an employer and employee may enter into a binding settlement agreement which compromises and settles an employee's claim for Worker's Compensation benefits. In the BYU case, the claim in question included, among other things, a dispute concerning whether the employee was injured by accident arising out of or in the course of his employment and also whether or not the alleged accident was the cause of the employee's subsequent death. Thus, at issue was the very compensability of the claim. The Court specifically addressed the affect of what is now designated as § 35-1-90, Utah Code Ann., which reads:

No agreement by an employee to waive his rights to compensation under this title shall be valid. No agreement by an employee to pay any portion of the premium paid by his employer shall be valid. Any employer who deducts any portion of such premium from the wages or salary of any employee entitled to the benefits of this title is guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be fined not more than \$100 for each such offense.

Contrary to the assertions contained in Appellant's Brief herein, the Court ruled that said statutory provision does not preclude a valid and enforceable compromise and settlement agreement as between the employer and the employee. In so doing, the Court stated:

Let it be assumed that it is competent for the Legislature to restrict the right of the employer and employe to make settlements or impose conditions upon which they may be made, yet in our opinion the Legislature has not, either by express language or by necessary implication, done so.

* * *

The section of this Act referred to does not, in our judgment, support the view that the right of the employer and employe to settle a claim arising under the Act after it has arisen is circumscribed or prohibited.

* * *

The right of parties sui juris to settle their own controversy and avoid litigation is a valuable and absolute right, and may be exercised by them under all circumstances, unless the state, under proper exercise of police power, has circumscribed, restricted or prohibited it. Holding as we do that such inhibition or restriction neither expressly or by necessary implication is manifest by the Act, we think the parties had the undoubted right to make the settlement which was made by them.

Id. at 892-893.

In the instant case the Industrial Commission has upheld the validity of Mr. Wilburn's Compromise and Settlement Agreement and specifically noted the Commission's policy with respect to such agreements.

The settlement of any claim is usually a desirable objective. The settlement of a disputed claim is particularly desirable because an adjudication of the claim seldom satisfies both parties and frequently leads to appeals and delays that thwart the beneficial purposes of workmen's compensation legislation. The policy of the Commission has been, and should continue to be, one that encourages the settlement of claims. It has been the long-standing practice of the Industrial Commission to approve settlements. This practice has operated as a safeguard against abuses that might otherwise occur, if an unscrupulous employer or insurance carrier attempted to take advantage of an unsophisticated worker seeking to settle a claim without the advice of counsel. The practice also affords some protection against clerical errors in the calculation of benefits payable to an Applicant.

(R. 373.)

Appellant further attempts to rely upon the case of Barber Asphalt Corp. v. Industrial Commission, 135 P.2d 266 (Utah 1943) to support his attempt to invalidate his own settlement agreement. The Industrial Commission specifically addressed the Barber Asphalt case in its findings and noted that it is distinguishable from the BYU case as well as Mr. Wilburn's case, since in both the BYU case and Mr. Wilburn's case the settlement involved a disputed claim of compensability. The Commission noted:

In the Barber Asphalt case there was no issue as to the fact that the applicant's injury arose out of or in the course of employment as a result of a compensable industrial accident. This was in sharp contrast to the BYU case in which the Court specifically stated that the compensability of the claim was a close issue "concerning which reasonable minds might well differ

and the right of the applicant to recover was doubtful."

(R. 372.)

The Barber Asphalt case did not invalidate all settlements of Worker's Compensation claims nor did it overrule the BYU case. It simply held that where the compensability of a worker's compensation claim is not disputed, an employee cannot, by agreement, waive his claim to future compensation since the Worker's Compensation Act vests the Commission with continuing jurisdiction to increase an award upon a showing of a change in the employee's condition which was not known at the time of the original award. Nothing in the Barber Asphalt case prohibits an employer and employee from settling claims which have already accrued, nor does it prevent the final settlement of a claim when the compensability of that claim is at issue.

In considering Mr. Wilburn's claim, the Industrial Commission specifically found that his Compromise and Settlement Agreement was entered into for the purpose of resolving an issue concerning the compensability of his claim. At issue was whether or not Mr. Wilburn's lifting of the portable generator during the course of his work constituted an "accident" within the meaning of the Utah Worker's Compensation Act. The Commission correctly applied the holding of the BYU case and found that the Barber Asphalt case was not applicable. The

Commission thus held that Mr. Wilburn's agreement was enforceable, that it was the intent of the parties under such agreement to settle the claim for permanent total disability and it therefore barred Mr. Wilburn's claim for permanent total disability as filed thereafter.

The Appellant cites certain cases from other jurisdictions in an attempt to support his claim that his settlement agreement should be invalidated; i.e., Walcome v. Paul Mushero Construction Co., 498 A.2d 593 (Me. 1985); Hansen v. Jer Her Builders, 366 N.W.2d 294 (Minn. 1985), and Ruiz v. City of Albuquerque, 577 P.2d 424 (N.M. 1978). A critical review of these cases reveals that they do not support the Appellant's position with respect to the validity of settlement agreements between the employer and the employee. On the contrary, each of those cases upholds the validity of such agreements. In all three cases the compensability of the claim was not even at issue, and, even so, the court upheld the agreement insofar as it settled the particular accrued claims covered by the agreement. The issues addressed in those cases merely involved a determination of what claims were covered by the agreements. In the Walcome case, the court found that the settlement agreement only covered the claimed foot injuries and that a claim for back injuries, arising out of the same accident, was not covered by the agreement. The court did not refuse to enforce

the agreement as to the foot injuries. It simply defined the scope of the agreement. In the Hansen case, the settlement agreement was held to be valid and enforceable with respect to the vision impairment which it expressly covered. The written agreement expressly provided that "all other claims are left open." Thus the court remanded the cases for a factual determination concerning what other injuries to the head, other than vision impairment, had been sustained as a result of the industrial accident. In essence, the court was simply enforcing the settlement agreement in conformity with its express provisions and the intent of the parties. And again, in the Ruiz case, the court upheld the settlement agreement as valid and enforceable but determined that its scope was limited to a settlement of claims "described in the complaint." It was determined that the agreement did not cover a claim for rehabilitation benefits since such had not been included in the complaint referred to.

Appellant also cites the case of Cretella v. New York Dock Co., 45 N.E.2d 429 (N.Y. 1942), as supporting his position. However, a review of the Cretella case reveals that it deals only with the issue which was addressed by the Utah Court in the Barber Asphalt case. In Cretella, the compensability of the claim was not at issue. The court simply held, as the Utah court held in Barber Asphalt, that because of the Commission

continuing jurisdiction, employers and employees had, under New York law, limited powers of settlement. The court determined that the agreement under review had failed to comply with the New York law. The court did not, by its ruling in Cretella, invalidate the compromise of a worker's compensation claim where the compensability of the claim was at issue.

Thus, appellant has failed to cite a single case, either in Utah or in any other jurisdiction, which supports the invalidation of Mr. Wilburn's Compromise and Settlement Agreement with the defendants. The BYU case is the law in Utah and should be followed.

As noted by the Industrial Commission, there are good public policy reasons for allowing an employer and employee to settle claims to the extent that they have already accrued or where the compensability of the entire claim is at issue. The Worker's Compensation Act favors an expedited resolution of claims. For this Court to invalidate the resolution of accrued claims by means of settlement would be counterproductive to the intent of the Act. Without the power to settle, employers and employees would be forced into endless and unnecessary litigation. The order of the Commission in this case should be affirmed. As the Commission noted:

To invalidate the agreement at this time would seriously undermine the entire settlement process, render such so uncertain and unpredictable as to seldom be worthy of serious consideration.

(R. 374.)

The Legislature specifically gave the Industrial Commission the power and duty to foster the expedited resolution of claims under the Workman's Compensation Act. Section 35-1-16(1) of the Act provides:

(1) It shall be the duty of the commission, and it shall have full power, jurisdiction, and authority:

* * *

(e) to promote the voluntary arbitration, mediation, and conciliation of disputes between employers and employees. (Emphasis added.)

Certainly it was the intent of the Utah Legislature that the Commission should have the authority to resolve such disputes by means of a settlement which it scrutinizes and approves. Such was the action by the Commission in regard to Mr. Wilburn's claim.

POINT II.

THE COMPENSABILITY OF WILBURN'S CLAIM WAS A BONA FIDE ISSUE WHEN THE COMPENSATION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WAS EXECUTED AND APPROVED.

Appellant urges that the "no accident" defense asserted by the defendants, was not sufficiently significant to establish a bona fide issue of compensability. The Industrial Commission found otherwise . . . and for good reason. The significance of the no accident defense must be assessed by understanding the status of the law on that issue as it existed at the time of

the agreement, not as it is now subsequently changed. At the time of the agreement, the issue of what constituted an industrial "accident" so as to support a claim for worker's compensation benefits had been the subject of substantial litigation resulting in Supreme Court decisions which had generated inconsistent results. Consequently, various administrative law judges at the Industrial Commission were deciding the issue based upon differing factors and differing emphases. This inconsistency created an uncertainty which caused an increasing number of claims filed with the Industrial Commission to be litigated. The inconsistency in court decisions has now just recently been acknowledged and a solution has been addressed by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15 (Utah 1986), wherein the Court stated:

Prior decisions by this Court have often failed to distinguish the analysis of the acts in question and the discussion of causation elements. As a result, this Court and the Commission are faced with confusing and often inconsistent precedent. For this reason, we now undertake a fresh look at the policy and historical background of the worker's compensation statute in an attempt to provide a clear and workable rule for future application by the Commission.

Id. at 18.

At the time Mr. Wilburn and the defendants entered into their Compromise and Settlement Agreement, the defendants were

justified in believing that there was a good chance of prevailing on the "no accident" issue should the matter be litigated. Court decisions upon which they could rely placed emphasis on the accidental and unintentional nature of the activity or event which caused the injury, not upon the accidental and unintentional nature of the injury itself. In 1969, the Court had decided Redman Warehousing Corp. v. Industrial Commission, 454 P.2d 283 (Utah 1969), wherein the Court denied compensation in a case where the employee herniated a disc in his back while riding in and driving a long-haul truck. There the Supreme Court stated:

There is nothing in this record that shows any unusual event, or "accident," if you please, justifying compensability within the nature, intent or spirit of the workmen's compensation act. To conclude otherwise would ensure every truck driver, every railroad engineer, every airplane pilot, and a lot of others, against a physiological malfunction or physical collapse of any of hundreds of human organs completely unproven as to cause, but compensable only by virtue of the happenstance that the malfunction, collapse or injury occurred while the employee was on the job, and not home or elsewhere.

Id. at 285.

In 1979, the Supreme Court issued its opinion in the case of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints v. Industrial Commission, 590 P.2d 328 (Utah 1979), in which it denied compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act for a herniated disc which occurred when the employee, after having set up

a series of chairs, sat down to rest and then stood up suddenly to answer the telephone. There was no dispute as to the causal relationship between the herniated disc and the work activity, but the Court denied compensation on the grounds that no accident had occurred. In so doing, the Court stated:

The only facts relating to the claimed accident were presented by the testimony of Thurman, and there is nothing contained therein that warrants a conclusion that an accident occurred. There is nothing in his testimony that shows anything unusual about his activities, that shows any unusual exertion or strain, or that shows any contact with objects or a fall. There is simply nothing different about his activities on the day in question than on any other such working day.

Id. at 329.

Thereafter, the Court decided the case of Farmers Grain Co-op v. Mason, 606 P.2d 237 (Utah 1980), and denied compensation to Mr. Mason who, it was found, sustained injury to his back as a result of unloading 100 pound bags of whey from a delivery truck. The court noted that Mr. Mason had suffered from back ailments prior to his alleged accident and the Court stated:

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